UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISRICT OF NEW YORK
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
-_ v' —

WALSTON OWEN,
a/k/a “Purpose,”
RICHARD FELIZ, :
a/k/a “Dirt,” SEALED INDICTMENT

SHAQUILLE BAILEY, :
a/k/a “Shaq,” S1 16 Cr. 809 (VM)
a/k/a “Jefe,”
LEWIS TURNBULL,
a/k/a “Lew,”
MIGUEL CABA,
a/k/a “Miggs,” and
NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ,
a/k/a “Cook,”

Defendants.
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. COUNT ONE
- (Racketeering Conspiracy)

The Grand Jury charges:

The Enterprise

1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, WALSTON
OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,; RICHARD FELIZ, a)k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE
BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaq,” a/k/a “Jefe,” MIGUEL CABA, a/k/a “Miggs,” -
and-NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Cook,” the defendants, and

others known and unknown, were members and assocliatesg of the

Rollin’ 30g, or the “Enterprise,” a c¢riminal organization whose
1Y

members and asgsoclates engaged. in, among other activities,




murder, attempted murder, conspiracy to commit murder, acts
involving robbery, narcotics trafficking, énd congpiracy to
commit Aarcotics trafficking. |

2. The Rollin’ 30s was a set of the national Crips street
gang. The Rollin’ 308 operated principally in and around
Stratford Avenue and 172nd Street in the Bronx, New York.

3. The Rollin’ 30s, including its leadership, its
membership, and its associates, constituted an “enterprise,” as
defined by Title 18, United States Céde, Section 1961 (4), that
vis, a group of individuals associlated in fact, although not a
legal entity. The Enterprige constituted an ongoing
organization whose members” functioned as a continuing unit for a
common purpose of achieving the objectives of the Enterprise.

At all times relevant to this Indictment, the Enterprise has
engaged in, and its activities affected, interstate and foreign
commerce. The defendants participated in the operation and
management‘of the Enterprise and participated in unlawful and
other activity in furtherance of the conduct of the Enterprise’s
affairs. |

4. From at least in or about 2013 up to and including in
or about 2017, membersgs and asséciates of the Rollin’ 30s were
engaged in a series of violent disputes with rival street gangs

or crews (generally, the “Opposing Crews”). During these

disputes, members and associates of the Rollin’ 30s committed
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multiple shootings and assaults against members and associates
of the Opposing Crews.

5. Certain members and associates of the Rollin’.BOé
committed and agreed, attempted, and threatened to commit acts
of vioience to protect and expand the territory of the
Enterprise, to protect fellow members and associates of the
Enterprise, and to protect and expand the drug trafficking
operation engaged in by members of the Enterprise. These acts
of violence included murder, attgmpted murder, and assaults
intended either to protect the Enterprise’s drug territory,
retéliate.against members of Opposing Crews who had encroached
on thé territory controlled by the Enferprise, or to otherwige
promote the standing and reputation of the Rollin’ 308 amongst
rival gangs.

6. Certain members and associates of the Rollin’ 30s also
sold cocaine base, commonly known as “crack cocaine,” primarily
in and around Stratford Avenue and 172nd Street in the Bronx,
New York. The Rollin’ 30s controlled crack cocaine sales within
this area by prohibiting and preventing non-members, outsiders,
and rival narcotics deale;s from distributing crack cocaine in

the area controlled by the Enterprise.




Purposeg of the Enterprise

7. The purposes of the Enterprise included the following:

a. Preserving and protecting the power, terriﬁory,
and profits of the Enterprise through murder, attempted murder,
and other acté of violence, and threats of violence.

b. Promoting and enhancing the Enterprise and the
activities of its members and associates.

c. Keeping victims and potential victims in fear of
the Enterprise and its members and associates through acts and
threats of violence..

d. Providing assistance to members and associates
who committed crimes for and on behalf of the Enterprise.

e. Enriching the memberg and associlates of the
Entérprise through, among other thinés, robbery, and the
distribution and salé of narcotics, including crack cocaine and
marijuana.

£. Protecting the Enterprise and its members and
associates from detection and prosecution by law enforcement
authorities through acts of intimidatioh and violence against
potential witnesses to crimes committed by members of the

Enterprise.




Means and Methods of the Enterprise

8. Among the means and metﬁods employed. by the members
and associates in conducting and participating in the conduct of
the affairs of the Enterprise were the following:

a. Members and associates of the Enterprise
committed, conspired, attempted, and threatened to commit acts
of violence, including murder, to protect and expand the
Enterprise’s criminal operations, and in connection with the
rivairies with members of the Opposing Crews.

b. Members and associates of the Enterprise used
threats of violence and physical violence against other members
‘and associates to enforce and maintain discipline within the
Enterprise.

c. Members and associates of the Enterprise
committed, conspired, attempted, and threatened to commit acts
of wviolence, including murder and attempted murder, against
members of the Opposging Crews and other individuals adverse to
the Enterprise.

d. Members and associaﬁes of the Enterprise promoted
and celebrated the criminai conduct of the Enterprise, némely
narcotics distribution, acts involving violence, and firearm
usage, in rap music and on social media websites such as YoﬁTube

and Facebook.




e. Members and associates of the Enterprise
obtained, possessed, and used firearms.

£. Members and asgoclates of the Eﬁterprise
distributed controlled substances, including crack cocaine and
marijuana.

The Racketeering Congpiracy

9, From at least in or about 2013, up to and including in
or about 2017, in the Southern District of New York andb
elsewhere, WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a
“Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BATLEY, a/k/a “Shag,” a/k/a “Jefe,” MIGUEL
CABA, a/k/a “Miggs,” and NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Cook,” and
others known and unknown, being persons employed by and
associated with the Enterprise deséribed in Paragraphs One
through Eight of this Indictment, to wit, the Rollin’ 30s,
knowingly combined, consgpired, confederated, and agreed together
and with each other to violate the racketeering laws of the
United States, to wit, Section 1962 (c) of Title 18, United
States Code( that is, to conduct and participate, directly and
indirectly, in the conduct of the affairé of the Rollin’ 30sg,
which was engaged in, and the activities of which affected,
interstate and foreign commerce, through a péttern of
racketeering activity consisting of:

a. multiple acts involving murder, chargeable under

the following provisions of state law:
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i. New

York Penal Law, Sections 20.00, 110.

and 125.25 (attempted murder) ;

ii, New

York Penal Law, Sections 105.15 and

125.25 (consgpiracy to murder) ;

iii. New
and 125.27 (murder) ;

b. multiple
robbery, and conspiracy
following provisions of

i, New
110100, 160,05, 160.10,

c. multiple

York Penal Law, Sections 20.00, 125.

acts involving robbery, attempted
to commit robbery, chargeable under

state law:

York Penal Law, Sectiong 20.00, 105.

and 160.15;

offenges involving the distribution

00

25,

the

10,

of

controlled substances, including crack cocaine and marijuana, in

violation of laws of the United States, namely Title 21, United

States Code, Sectioms 812, 841(a) (1), 841l (b) (1) (BA),

84i(b)(1)(D), and ‘846, and Title 18, United States Code, Section

2.

10. It was a part of the conspiracy that each defendant

agreed that a conspirator would commit at least two acts of

racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the

Enterprise.




NOTICE OF SPECIAL SENTENCING FACTORS

A. NARCOTICS

11. From at least in or about 2013, up to and iﬁcluding in
or about 2017, in the Southern District of New York and
elsewhere, WALSTON OWEN; a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a
wpirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaq,” a/k/a “Jefe,” MIGUEL
CABA, a/k/a “Miggs,” and NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Cook,” and
others known and unknown, intentionally and knowingly did
cgmbine, conspire, confederate, and agree together and with each
other to violate the narcotics laws of the United States.

12. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,”
SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaqg,” a/k/a “Jefe,” MIGUEL CABA, a/k/a
“Miggs,” and NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Cook,” and others known
and unknown, would and did distribute and possess with intent to
distribute (i) 280 grams and more of mixtures and substances
containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, in a form
commonly known as “crack cocaine,” in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Sections 841 (a) (1), 841(b) (1) (A), and 846, .
and (ii) less than 50 kilograms of marijuana, in viclation of
Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 (a) (1), 841(b) (1) (D),

and 846.




B. MURDER

13. On or about Maréh‘26, 2015, in the Southern District
of New York, RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” the defendant, and
others known and unknown, intentionally and knowingly murdered
and aided and abetted the murder of Victor Chafla in the
vicinity of 1250 Morrison Avenue in the Bronx, New York, in
violation of New York Penal Law, Sections 20.00 and 125.25, in
that FELIZ, with the intent to cause the death of a member of an
Opposihg Crew, did cause the death of'Victor Chafla, and under
circumstances evincing_a.depraved indifference to human life,
did recklessly engage in conduct which created a grave risk of
death to another person, and thereby caused the death of Chafla,
and did aid and abet the same, to wit, FELIZ shot at a member of
an Opposing Crew and thereby killed Victor Chafla, an ilnnocent
bystander.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).)
COUNT TWO
(Conspiracy to Commit Murder in Aid
of Racketeering Activity)

The Grand Jury\further charges:

14. At all times relevant to thie Indictment, the Rollin’
30g, as more fully described in Paragraphs One through Eight of
this Indictment, which are realleged and incorporated by
reference as though set forth fully herein, including its

leaders, members, and associates, constituted an enterprise as
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defined in Titie 18, United States Code, Section 1959 (b) (2),
that is, a group of individuals associated in fact which was
engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and
foreign commerce. The Enterprise constituted an ongoing
organization whose members functioned as a continuing unit for a
commén purpose of achieving the objectives of the Enterprise.

- 15. At all timeeg relevant to this Indictment, the above-
described Enterprise; through its members and associlates,
engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1959(b) (1) and 1961 (1), namely, acts
involving murder and robbery in violation of the laws of New
York State; and offenses involving drug trafficking in violation
of 21 U.8.C. §§ 812, 841, and 846.

16. TIn or about March 2016, in the Southern District of
New York and elsewhere, RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” the
defendant, and others known and unknown, as conéideration,for
the receipt of, and as consideration for a promise and agreement.
to péy, a thing of pecuniary value from the Rollin’ 30s, and for
the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and
increasing position in the Rollin’ 30g, an enterprise engaged in
racketeering activity, as described above, knowingly conspired
to murder a member of an Opposing Crew, in violation of New York .

Penal Law, Sections 125.25 and 105.15, to wit, FELIZ did agree

10




with others to shoot at a member of an Opposing Crew and thereby
killed Victor Chafla, an innocent bystander.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959 (a) (5).)

COUNT THREE
(Murder in Aid of Racketeering Activity)

The Grand Jury further charges:

17. Papagraphs Fourteen and Fifteen of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set
forth herein.

18. On or about March 26, 2015, in the Southern District
of New York, RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” the defendant, and
others known and unknown, as consideration for the receipt of,
and as consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, a thing
of pecuniary value from the Rollin’ 30s, and for the purpose of
gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing positiqn in
the Rollin’ 308, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
as described above, intentionally and knowingly murdered, and
aided and abetted the murder of Victor Chafla, that is, with the
intent to cause the deéth of a member of an Opposing Crew, did
caugse the death of Victor Chafla,'and under circumsténces
evincing a depraved indifference to human life, did recklessly
engage in conduct which created a grave risk of death to another
person, and thereby caused the death of Chafla, in the vicinity

of 1250 Morrigon Avenue, Bronx, New York, in violation of New
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York Penal Law, Sections 125.25 and 20.00, to wit, FELIZ shot at
a member of an Opposing Crew and thereby killed Victor Chafla,
an innocent bystander.

(Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1959 (a) (1) and 2.)

COUNT FOUR
(Firearms Offense)

The Grand Jury further charges:

19. On or about March 26, 2015, in the Southern District
of New York, RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” the defendant,
willfully and knowingly, during and in relation to crimes of
violence for which he may be prdsecuted in a court of the United
States, namely, the conspiracy to commit racketeering charged in
Count One of this Indictment, the comspiracy to commit murdef.in
aid of racketeering charged in Count Two of this Indictment, and
the murder in aid of racketeering charged in Count Three of this
Indictment, did use and carry a firearm, and, in furtherance of
guch crime, did possess a firearm, and did aid and abet the use,
carrying, and possession of a firearm, and in the course of that
crime did cause the death of a person through the use of a
firearm, which killing is murder as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1111(a), to wit, FELIZ caused the death of
Victor-Chafla by shooting Chafla, and aiding and abetting the
game, in the vicinity of 1250 Morrison Avenue, Bronx, New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924 () and 2.)
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COUNT FIVE
(Firearms Offense)

The Grand Jury further charges:

20. From at least in or about 2013, up to and including
abéut 2017, on occasions other than the fa£a1 shooting of Victor
Chafla that occurred on or about March 26, 2015, as chargéd in
Counts Two, Three, and Four'of this Indictment, in the Southern
District of New York and elsewhere, WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a
“purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a
“Shag, " a/k‘/a vJefe,” MIGUEL CABA, a/k/a “Miggs,” and NATHANIAL
RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Cook,” the defendants, during and in relation
to a crime df violence for which they may be prosecuted in a
court of the United States, namely, the racketeering conspiracy
charged in Count One of this Indictment, knowingly did use and
carry firearms, and, in furtherance of such crime, did possess
firearmsg, and did aid and abet the ﬁse, carrying, and possession
of firearms, some of which firearms were brandished and
discharged on multiple occasions.

(Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 924 (c) (1) (A) (1), (ii), (iii), and 2.)

COUNT SIX
(Narcotics Conspiracy)

The Grand Jury further charges:
21. From at least in or about 2013, up to and including in

or about 2017, in the Southern District of New York and
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elsewhere, WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a
“Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaqg,” a/k/a “Jefe,” and LEWIS
“TURNBULL, a/k/a “Lew,” the defendants, and others known and
unknown, intentionally and knowingly did combine, conespire,
confederaté, and agree together and with each other to violate
the narcotics laws of the United States.

22. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,”
SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaq,” a/k/a “Jefe,” and LEWIS
TURNBULL, a/k/a “Lew,” the defendants, and others known and
unknown, would and did distribute and possess with intent to
distribute controlled substances, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Section 841(a) (1).

23. The controlled substances that WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a
“purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a
“Shag,” a/k/a “Jefe,” and “LEWIS TURNBULL, ” a/k/a “Lew,” the
defendants, conspired to distribute and possess with tﬁe iﬁtent
to distribute were (i) 280 grams and more of mixtures and
substances containing a detectable amount of cocaine base,
commonly known as “crack cocaine,” in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Section 841 (b) (1) (A), and (ii) mixtures and
éubstances containing marijuana, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Section 841 (b) (1) (D).

(Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.)
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNT ONE

24. The allegations céhtained in Count One of this
Tndictment are hereby repeated, realleged, and incorporated by
reference herein as though fully set forth at 1eﬁgth for the
purpose of alleging forfeiture pursﬁant to the provigions of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963. Pursuant to Rule
32.2 of the Pederal Ruies of Criminal Procedure, notice is.
hereby given to WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ,
a/k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaqg,” a/k/a “Jefe,”
MIGUEL CABA, a/k/a “Miggs,” and NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a
wCook,” that the United States will seek forfeiture as part of
any sentence in accordance with Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1963 in the event of anonf these defendants’ conviction
under Count One of this Indictment.

25. WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a
“Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a “Shaqg,” a/k/a “Jefe,” MIGUEL
CABA, a/k/av“MiggS,” and NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Coock”:

a. have acquired and maintained interests in
violation of Titie 18, United States Code, Section 1962, which
interests are subject to forfeiture to the United States
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963 (a) (1) ;

b. have an interest in, security of, claim against,
and property and contractual rights which afford a source of

influence over, the Enterprise named and described herein which
15




the above-named defendants established, operated, controlled,
conducted, and participated in tﬁe conduct of, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962, which interests,
securities, claimg, and rights are subject to forfeiture to the
United States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1963 (a) (2); and/oxr

c. have property constituting and derived from
proceeds obtained, directly and indirectiy, from the aforesaid
racketeering activity, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1962, which property is subject to foffeiture to
the United States pursuant to Title 18, United States Codse,
Section 1963 (a) (3).

26. The interests of the above-named defendants subject to
forfeiture to the United States pursuant to Title 18, United
Stateg Code, Section 1963(a) include the amount of gross
proceeds received by the defendants derived from racketeering
activities as allegedlin Count One of this Indictment.

cubstitute Assets Provision

27. If any of the property described above as gsubject to
forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of the above-

named defendants:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due

diligence;
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b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited

with, a third person;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the
Court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which

cannot be subdivided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1963 (m), and 28 U.S.C. § 2461, to seek forfeiture of any other
property of the above-named defendants up to the value of the
forfeitable property.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963.)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNT SIX

28. . Ag a result of committing the controlied substance
offense charged in Count Six of this Indictment, WALSTON OWEN,
a/k/a “Purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILE?,
a/k/a “Shaq,:’ a/k/a “Jefe,” LEWIS TURNBULL, a/k/a “Lew,” shall
forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United
Stateg Code, Section 853, any and all property congtituting or
derived from any proceeds the defendants obtained directly or
indirectly as a result of the offense and any and all prdperty
ugsed or intended to be used in any manner or part to commit and
to facilitate the commission of the offense charged in Count Six

of this Indictment.
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Substitute Agssets Provigion

29. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as
a result of any act or omission of WALSTON OWEN, a/k/a |
“purpose,” RICHARD FELIZ, a/k/a “Dirt,” SHAQUILLE BAILEY, a/k/a
“Shaqg,” a/k/a “Jefe,” LEWIS TURNBULL, a/k/a “Lew”:
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due
diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited

with, a third person;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the
Court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which

cannot be subdivided without diffiéulty,

it is the intentvof the United States, pursuant to 21 U.S.C.
§ 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the
defendants up to the value of the above forfeitable property.

(Title 21, United States Code, Section 853.)

! O e M

Foreperson J@bN H. KIM
Acting United States Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
- V. -

WALSTON OWEN,
a/k/a “Purpose,”
RICHARD FELIZ,
a/k/a “Dirt,”
SHAQUILLE BAILEY,
a/k/a “Shaq,"”
a/k/a “Jefe,”
LEWIS TURNBULL,
a/k/a “Lew,”
MIGUEL CABA,
a/k/a “Miggs,” and
NATHANIAL RODRIGUEZ,
a/k/a “Cook,”

Defendants.

TRUE BILL
81 16 Cr. 809 (VM)
(Title 21, United States Code, Section 846;

Title 18, United States Code, Sectione 924 ({(c) (1); 924 (]J);
1959 (a); 1962(d); and 2.)

JOON H. KIM
Acting United States Attorney.

Foreperson.






